#### No. 47501-4-II

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGON

ALBERTO & VICTORIA AVALO Appellants in this Appeal

v.

DEUTSCHE BANK TRUST COMPANY
AMERICAS AS INDENTURE TRUSTEE FOR
THE REGISTERED HOLDERS OF SAXON
ASSET SECURITIES TRUST 2005-1
MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET BACKED NOTES,
SERIES 2005-1,
Respondent to this Appeal



#### APPELLANTS' SECOND AMENDED BRIEF

Respectfully Submitted:

Alberto E. Avalo and Victoria L. Avalo 2215 29<sup>th</sup> Ave. Ct SW Puyallup, WA 98373 253-988-0231

## **

facts being attested to.

The trial court erred when it failed to require the Plaintiff to essentially

start their motion and notice process over when the Plaintiff was in violation

of Rule 54(e), which requires that "[T]he attorney of record for the

prevailing party shall prepare and present a proposed form of order or

judgment not later than 15 days after the entry of the verdict or decision..."

The trial court granted the Summary Judgment on February 13, 2015 and

the first Motion for Judgment was not filed until May 4, 2015.

ISSUE: The Appellate Court is asked to determine whether or not the

trial court should have allowed the matter to proceeded as if Rule 54(e) had

not been violated when Rule 54(e) had, in fact, been violated.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal is taken from the decision of the Superior Court of

Washington, in and for Pierce County under Case no. 14-2-07188-0.

The nature of the case below was the Complaint of DEUTSCHE

BANK TRUST COMPANY AMERICAS AS INDENTURE TRUSTEE

FOR THE REGISTERED HOLDERS OF SAXON ASSET SECURITIES

TRUST 2005-1 MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET BACKED NOTES, SERIES

2005-1, the Plaintiff, filed against Defendants Albert and Victoria Avalo in

the Washington State Superior Court in and for the County of Pierce on

March 24, 2014. The case represented a mortgage foreclosure action against

the Avalo's concerning their property located at 2215 29th Avenue Court

SW, Puyallup, WA 98373 and included an assortment of alleged mortgage

documents in the Plaintiff's possession [Page 34].

Defendants were served with the Summons and Complaint on April

1, 2014. Pursuant to (CR 4(a)(2) and CR 12(a)(1) Defendants had 20 days,

exclusive of the day of service, to provide their Answer. Defendants

provided their Answer to the Plaintiff by placing said Answer with the US

Postal Service, Certified Mail, with tracking capability to ensure its timely

arrival. The following week, on April 24 2014, the Defendants' Answer was

filed with the Court. [Page 34].

The Plaintiff in the action was, on that same day, prematurely

proceeding with its claim, stating that Defendants had defaulted and it

(Plaintiff) should be awarded an assessment of damages as if the Plaintiff

had never received Defendants' Answer. See RCW 4.28.290. Assessment

of damages without answer. The record additionally shows an Order of

Default (April 24, 2014) followed by a Motion to Vacate (April 29, 2014)

and an Order to Vacate (April 30, 2014) in light of the fact that Defendants

did provide a timely Answer to the Complaint.

In August 2014, the Plaintiff's servicer Ocwen sent Defendant an

offer to modify which Defendants said they would accept with conditions,

including providing Defendants with an offer whose deadline for

acceptance had not yet passed as this one had by one full month. The

Plaintiff's servicer Ocwen never responded. In September 2014, Defendant

provided written notice to Plaintiff's servicer Ocwen and Plaintiff's counsel

that they (the Avalo's) were about to leave the state on a family emergency

Defendant Alberto Avalo's father in Texas was gravely ill and ended up

passing away in November]. Neither Plaintiff's servicer Ocwen nor

Plaintiff's counsel responded.

Concerning Defendants' Answer to Plaintiff's Complaint: in

thirteen separate locations in its 27-page Answer, the Defendants,

answering pro se, raised the issue of standing, specifically denying the

Plaintiff had standing to bring the action. Said Answer contained arguments

Avalo, Appellants/Petitioners

as to why that position was made, including but not limited to the fact that

the Plaintiff did not offer a single firsthand witness, competent to testify to

facts alleged in the Complaint.

Concerning discovery conducted by the Plaintiff: the record shows

the Plaintiff initiated discovery to which Defendants answered. Said

answers were filed on July 8, 2014. Contained within the Defendants'

answers to discovery were several more denials that the Plaintiff had

standing to bring their lawsuit against the Defendants. A further discussion

of specific instances of Defendants' challenging standing in their answer to

discovery is found in the Arguments portion of this brief, "A. Burden of

Proof on Summary Judgment", on Page 9.

Concerning Defendants' Opposition for Plaintiff's Motion for

Summary Judgment: On November 25 2014, Plaintiff filed their Motion for

Summary Judgment [Motion for Summary Judgment noted on Page 34].

This was done only days after Defendants gave notice to Respondent's law

firm, reminding them that Defendants had been, for the nearly three months

prior, and would be, for several weeks more, out of the state while dealing

with the complicated estate of a recently deceased parent (Defendant

Alberto Avalo's father), and would largely be without Internet access until

their return near Christmas (2014). This was a follow up to the written

notice Defendants provided prior to leaving the state again in early

September 2014. (The Defendants had also spent most of the spring of 2014

in Texas with the ailing father.) These facts were reiterated in open court at

the February 13, 2015 summary judgment hearing without rebuttal from

opposing counsel and appear in the transcript for that hearing. See

Transcript for Summary Judgment Hearing on February 13, 2015, Page 8

starting at Line 8.

Defendants first learned that the Motion for Summary Judgement

had been filed upon their return from Texas just prior to Christmas 2014, a

month after the motion had been filed against them. Defendants hastily

wrote and, on January 14, 2015, filed an Objection to Summary Judgment,

noting that Defendants' Answer had vigorously argued that Plaintiff's

Complaint and support material showed that Plaintiff lacked standing on

several counts. Defendants' Objection also stated that Defendants had not

yet had the opportunity to conduct any discovery as they had been out of

the state for much of the intervening year since the Complaint was filed, a

fact that the Plaintiff well knew. On February 9, 2015, Appellant filed an

Amended Objection that included, as an exhibit, a Chain of Title Analysis

& Mortgage Fraud Investigation that Defendants paid a licensed,

experienced firm to perform, the results of which included a 5-page affidavit

by the man who conducted the investigation. This material was included in

Defendants' Objection because it shows exactly what the Defendants had

been alleging; namely, that there are substantive issues of fact in dispute,

that there are problems with the "proof" the Plaintiff has offered that are

serious enough to bring Plaintiff's standing into serious question; problems

that must be resolved before a summary judgment in favor of the Plaintiff

would be appropriate; problems that discovery may well resolve. See EX

1.

February 12, 2015, Plaintiff filed its response to Defendant's

Objection. [See Page 34].

Concerning discovery conducted by Defendants: Defendants were

out of the state attending to a family health crisis for most of the spring,

summer and fall of 2014. This is a fact not in dispute. On February 13, 2015,

the Court refused to allow Defendants' discovery to go forward, even

though they had prepared and provided it to the Plaintiff as quickly as they

were able to do so upon their return to Washington State.

The record shows Defendants then filed a Motion for Relief from

Judgment on February 23, 2015. [See Page 35] That Motion was heard by

the Court on March 27, 2015 [See Page 35] and was not granted.

On May 4, 2015, the Plaintiff filed a Motion for Judgment. [See

Page 35] and on May 27, 2015 that Motion was heard by the Court. [See

Page 35] On June 1, 2015 an Order Denying the Motion was entered. [See

Page 35].

In August of 2015 Plaintiff, without providing notice to Defendant

in violation of CR 54(f)(2), attempted to obtain an ex parte judge's sign-off

on a Motion for Entry of Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure.

When this initially failed, Plaintiff filed a Motion for

Reconsideration on August 28, 2015 [See Page 35], which was granted.

However, the Motion and the Order was vacated by the Court three days

later on August 31, 2015 [See Page 35] and no new motion for entry of

judgment was filed.

On September 9, 2015, the Plaintiff filed both a second Motion for

Reconsideration of its, as yet, unfiled new Motion for Entry of Judgment

and Decree of Foreclosure AND a Motion to Vacate Judgment and Decree

of Foreclosure [See Page 35].

The finder of fact should note at this point that NO new motion for

entry of judgment and decree of foreclosure had yet been filed by the

Plaintiff at this point (or at any point since the May 4, 2015 filing).

On September 25, 2015, the Court ordered Final Judgment of

Foreclosure, Plaintiff also filed several documents purporting to show that

Plaintiff was entitled to bring such an action against Appellants. [See Page

35].

On October 7, 2015, Defendants filed a Motion to Stay all

Proceedings Pending Appeal [See Page 35]. The Court denied that motion

[See Page 35].

On October 16, 2015, a Notice of Sale was filed regarding

Appellants' property [see Page 35] and on November 20, 2015 the Court

Signs Order Denying Defendants' Motion to Stay.

Defendants now bring this matter to this Court for immediate

reversal of the lower Court's non-final order. Defendants also request that

the case be remanded, upon reversal by this Court, for further proceedings

in the lower Court as to the merits of the action brought against them by the

Plaintiff. Additionally, Defendants request that the Honorable Court affirm

Defendants' right to conduct discovery in this matter as per prior decisions

that relate to discovery being indispensably tied to the right to due process.

III. ARGUMENT

A. Burden of Proof on Summary Judgment

A trial court's granting or dismissing motions for summary judgment

claims under CR 56 is reviewed by this Court de novo, taking all inferences

in the record in favor of the non-moving party. Hayden v. Mutual of

Enumclaw Insurance Co., 141 Wn.2d 55, 1 P.3d 1167 (2000); Schroeder v.

Excelsior Management Group, LLC, 117 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013)

(hereinafter "Schroeder") (citing Dreiling v. Jain, 151 Wn.2d 900, 93 P.3d

861 (2004); Hauber v. Yakima County, 147 Wn.2d 655, 56 P.3d 559 (2002);

Avalo, Appellants/Petitioners v. Deutsche Bank Trust Company, Trustee, Respondent -APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB, 176 Wn.App 475, 485, 309 P.3d 636 (2013)

(hereinafter "Bavand"). Summary judgment is only appropriate if there is

no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to

judgment as a matter of law. Balise v. Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195, 381 P2d

966 (1963); Schroeder; Herring v. Texaco, Inc., 161 Wn.2d 189, 165 P.3d

4 (2007); Bavand, at page 485.

The initial burden on summary judgment is on the moving party to prove

that no material issue is genuinely in dispute. CR 56. Sworn statements on

summary judgment must be (1) made on personal knowledge, (2) setting

forth facts as would be admissible in evidence and (3) showing affirmatively

that the affiant is competent to testify to the matter stated in the sworn

statement. Snohomish County v. Rugg, 115 Wn.App. 218, 61 P.3d 1184

(2002); Blomster v. Nordstrom, 103 Wn.App. 252, II P.3d 883 (2000); Lilly

v. Lynch, 88 Wn.App. 306, 945 P.2d 727 (1997).

In reviewing the evidence submitted on summary judgment, facts

asserted by the non-moving party and supported by affidavits or other

appropriate evidentiary materials must be taken as true. State ex rei Bond v.

State, 62 Wn.2d 487, 383 P.2d 288 (1963); Reid v. Pierce Co., 136 Wn.2d

195,961 P.2d 333 (1998). The transcript of the February 13, 2015 summary

judgment hearing shows Plaintiff's counsel even admits Defendants have

raised "several" issues of fact in the case. See Page 12, Line 19, discussed

more in-depth later.

Summary judgment is appropriate if reasonable persons can reach

only one conclusion from all of the evidence, viewed in a light most

favorable to the non-moving party. Shows v. Pemperton, 73 Wn.App. 107,

868 P.2d 164 (1994; Doherty v. Municipality of Metro, 83 Wn.App. 464,

921 P.2d 1098 (1996); Goad v. Hambridge, 85 Wn.App. 98, 931 P.2d 200

(1997). When there is contradictory evidence, or the moving parties'

evidence is impeached, an issue of credibility is presented and the Court

should not resolve issues of credibility on Summary Judgment, but should

reserve the issue of credibility for trial. Balise v. Underwood, supra. Based

upon the foregoing and the evidence presented to the trial court, there are

numerous issues of material fact in dispute (if not undisputed in Appellants'

favor).

As pro se litigants, the Avalo's are, themselves, untrained in the law

and not experts in court procedure, which partially explains why their

document in opposition to summary judgment did not delve into specific

issues of fact in dispute. The Appellants had already been doing nothing but

disputing issues of fact up until this point in the case. They disputed issues

of fact in their Answer, especially those that asserted standing. See their

Answer Page 2 at Line 19; Page 3 at Line 23; Page 4 at Line 2; Page 8 at

Lines 18, 25, and 29; Page 16 at Line 9; and Count V – Lack of Standing

beginning at the bottom of Page 17, continuing to Page 20, Line 5; and Page

22 at Line 13. And they answered discovery in a way that made clear the

issues of fact in dispute. For examples of this, see Defendants' Answer to

Admissions Request Page 3 beginning at Line 13 through remainder of that

page; a dispute of funds distribution and the treatment of the note beginning

at the bottom of Page 4, continuing to the middle of Page 6. But the most

substantive reason the opposition document did not contain any in-depth

discussion of issues of fact in dispute was that the Defendants were relying

on their exhibits to accomplish that. The language of the opposition said so.

See Page 3 of Defendants' Amended Opposition, #6 (at Line 26). Here,

Defendants assert, "Defendant has conducted the forensic audit it ordered

done on January 12, 2015 the results of which are attached." The same is

included herein as EX 1.

The audit (called a Chain of Title Analysis & Mortgage Fraud

Investigation), conducted by experts in the field of investigations of

individual mortgage transactions (see Page 1 of 5 of the Affidavit of Joseph

Esquivel following the 42-Page Chain of Title Analysis), reveals numerous

material issues of fact in dispute, as does the Affidavit that follows it.

The Plaintiff appears to believe that anyone who happens to be in

possession of the note has the equitable right of "noteholder status" and

therefore the right to foreclose... whether or not the note came into its

holder's possession legitimately. See the following exchange between

Plaintiff's counsel and the Court at the February 13, 2015 summary

judgment hearing, beginning at Page 11 at Line 14:

MS. OWENS: "The Bain case that I quoted is very, very clear. I

have the original note right here."

THE COURT: "That was my other question is, is your client the

holder of the note? And if you're the holder of the note, I think that the

argument made by the Avalos fails."

MS. OWENS: --- [moving down to Line 23] --- "... And so with that,

the Bain case and the Washington law and the UCC laws are very clear. The

security follows the note, we're the holder of the note."

The Defendants disagree with this position. Foreclosure is an

equitable remedy (see 158 Wn. 2d. 523 Nov. 2006 Sorenson v. Pyeatt) and

equity does not allow a party to foreclose on a note merely because they

have come into possession of it. The claim that "the mortgage follows the

note" to the exclusion of all other considerations i.e. fraud, egregious errors,

including flaws found on the public record that constitute incontrovertible

breaks in the chain of title, etc. is incorrect under Washington law. Under

Washington law, the lien follows the secured party of record. See West's

RCWA 62A.9A-514. The equitable right of "holder status" must be proven

with evidence of a legitimate delivery. See West's RCWA 65.08.070.

Therefore, intention does not override the requirements of the law. Hence,

the error in granting summary judgment merely because the Plaintiff asserts

that they possess the note.

It is a cornerstone and long held concept within US law that when

the rights to the tangible paper note and the rights to the security instrument

are separated, the security instrument, because it can have no separate

existence, cannot survive and becomes a nullity. In Carpenter v. Longan 16

Wall 271,83 U.S. 271, 274, 21 L.Ed. 313 (1872), the U.S. Supreme Court

stated "The note and mortgage are inseparable; the former as essential, the

latter as an incident. An assignment of the note carries the mortgage with

it, while assignment of the latter alone is a nullity... The mortgage can have

no separate existence. When the note is paid the mortgage expires. It cannot

survive for a moment the debt which the note represents. This dependent

and incidental relation is the controlling consideration..."

Staying on the topic of issues of fact, the fact finder turns again to

the transcript of the February 13, 2015 summary judgment hearing where

Plaintiff's counsel admitted the Defendants had raised several issues of fact

well before the Motion for Summary Judgment was filed. In the following

excerpt of the transcript, Plaintiff's counsel is describing a point in the late

summer of 2014 when the Avalo's and Ocwen were extremely close to an

agreed-upon modification. Ocwen had sent the Avalo's a modification offer

whose deadline for acceptance was July of 2014, a full month past. The

Avalo's had stated that they still had some unresolved issues that they

wanted to be answered, but stated in the end they would likely agree to the

modification if Ocwen would send an offer whose deadline for acceptance

was not already expired:

MS. OWENS: (Page 12 at Line 19) "She [Mrs. Avalo] made several

issues of fact where my clients were not under the belief that she [Mrs.

Avalo] would be accepting the loan modification." [This was Ocwen's

apparent rationale for not sending (not ever sending) the Avalo's a

modification offer that had an unexpired deadline.]

Here, at a hearing for Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment,

Plaintiff's counsel admits that, well after litigation was under way,

Defendant Avalo was raising issues of fact and that Defendant Avalo was

conveying those issues to whoever would listen. Those issues were clearly

spelled out in the Defendants' Answer to the suit and in their answers to

discovery requests and further brought to light in the Chain of Title Analysis

Defendants ordered on their property (see EX 1), and in the premise of the

Defendants' discovery requests (see EX 3) [both of which were made part

of the record as they prominently appear in the transcript of the case,

specifically that of the February 13, 2015 summary judgment hearing.]

In spite of this, less than one minute after opposing counsel admitted

Defendant Avalo had issues of fact that Mrs. Avalo felt had to be dealt with

in order to feel fully comfortable with ending litigation and entering into a

modification, the Court ignored counsel's admission, saying the

following...

THE COURT: (Page 13 at Line 12) "Okay. I do not believe there is

any issues of fact on the core issues in this case. On that basis, I'm granting

summary judgment."

B. Discovery Not Allow to Proceed

It is a maxim of law that discovery is a part of due process. Plaintiff

served Appellants with discovery requests, to which Defendants answered.

Said answers were filed on July 8, 2014. However, Defendant served the

Plaintiff with discovery requests, but the trial court did not require the

Plaintiff to answer those requests prior to granting Summary Judgment on

February 13, 2015. The transcript shows that the trial court judge affirmed

the Defendants had a right to appeal her denial of discovery.

The right of discovery and the rules of discovery are integral to the

civil justice system. Quote from JOHN DOE v. BLOOD CENTER, 117

Wn.2d 772, P.2d 370:

"The court rules recognize and implement the right of access.

The discovery rules, specifically CR 26 and its companion rules,

Avalo, Appellants/Petitioners

CR 27-37, grant a broad right of discovery which is subject to

the relatively narrow restrictions of CR 26(c). This broad right

of discovery is necessary to ensure access to the party seeking

the discovery. It is common legal knowledge that extensive

discovery is necessary to effectively pursue either a plaintiff's

claim or a defendant's defense. Thus, the right of access as

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