No. 47501-4-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

ALBERTO & VICTORIA AVALO,

Defendants-Appellants,

v.

DEUTSCHE BANK TRUST COMPANY AMERICAS AS INDENTURE TRUSTEE FOR THE REGISTERED HOLDERS OF SAXON ASSET SECURITIES TRUST 2005-1, MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET BACKED NOTES, SERIES 2005-1,

Plaintiff-Respondent.

AMENDED ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DEUTSCHE BANK AS TRUSTEE

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

possession of the Trust, and that all pre-requisites to foreclosure had been satisfied. (CP 171.) The Court granted Summary Judgment on February 3, 2015. (CP 170-172.)

D. Defendants' Appeal

Defendants filed a Notice of Appeal on April 24, 2015. Their Second Amended Opening Brief (cited to as "Opening Br.") argues that the Trust's evidence was inadequate to support grant of summary judgment and that material issues of fact were in dispute. (Opening Br. at 1.) In particular, Defendants challenge the sworn affidavit submitted with the Motion for Summary Judgment and argue that it was inadequate under Civil Rule 56(e). (*Id.* at 1-2.) Defendants also argue they had inadequate time to conduct discovery and that the trial court erred in allowing Judgment in the matter because the Trust did not provide a form of order or judgment to the Court within 15 days of the Court's decision. (*Id.* at 2.) As discussed further below, these arguments have no merit.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment de novo, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C.*, 180 Wn. App. 689, 698, *rev. den.*, 181 Wn. 2d 1008 (2014). Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Id.* Although the moving party has the initial burden of showing there is no issue of material fact, once this is accomplished, the burden shifts to the non-moving party to show why summary judgment should not be granted. *Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225 (1989). To defeat summary judgment, the nonmoving party must submit admissible evidence demonstrating the material issues of fact that preclude summary judgment. *Thye v. Zenture Pacific Homes, Inc.*, 153 Wn. App. 1030, 8 (2009).

The Court may affirm a summary judgment order on any ground supported by the record. *Blue Diamond Grp., Inc. v. KB Seattle 1, Inc.,* 163 Wn. App. 449, 453 (2011).

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The Trust Satisfied Its Burden of Showing that Summary Judgment was Warranted and There Were No Issues of Fact

The Uniform Commercial Code Article 3, which is codified in the Revised Code of Washington ("RCW"), is the substantive state law governing negotiable instruments, including promissory notes. Among the persons or entities entitled to enforce a negotiable instrument under the RCW is the "holder." *See* RCW § 62A.3-301. *See also Brown v. Washington State Dep't of Commerce*, 184 Wash. 2d 509, 524-25, 359 P.3d 771 (2015) (citing RCW 62A.3-301.) A person or entity in possession of an instrument qualifies as the "holder" of the instrument if it is payable to that person or entity. RCW 62A.I-201(b)(21) (stating "Holder" means the "person in possession of a negotiable instrument that is payable either to bearer or to an identified person that is the person in possession.") *See also Brown*, 184 Wash. 2d at 525 (quoting from statute); *Bain v. Metro Mortg. Group, Inc.*, 175 Wash. 2d 83, 104, 285 P.3d 34 (Wash. 2012) (quoting from statute, previously codified as RCW 62A.1-201(20)(2001)).

The concept of "person entitled to enforce" a note is not synonymous with "owner" of the note. To the contrary, one party may own the right to a note's proceeds, while its servicer or another party may have the ability to enforce it. *Cameron v. Acceptance Capital Mortg. Corp.*, No. C13-1707-RSM, 2013 WL 5664706, at *3 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 16, 2013) ("This Court has repeatedly rejected the theory that only the owner of the Note has the authority to enforce its terms."); *Rouse v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, No. 13-5706-RBL, 2013 WL 5488817, at *5 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 2, 2013) (same). This has been the law in Washington for 45 years. *John Davis & Co. v. Cedar Glen No. Four, Inc.*, 75 Wash. 2d 214, 222-23 (1969) ("The holder of a negotiable instrument may sue thereon in his own name, and payment to him in due course discharges the instrument. It is not necessary for the holder to first establish that he has some beneficial interest in the proceeds.") (citation omitted).

-11-

When a note is transferred from one entity to another, the successor entity receives both the ability to enforce the note and the ability to enforce the pertinent trust deed. *Am. Sav. Bank & Trust Co. v. Helgesen*, 64 Wash. 54, 61 (1911) *on reh'g*, 67 Wash. 572 (1912) ("There is no doubt that a mortgage, or any other security given for the payment of a bill or note, passes by a transfer of the bill or note to the transferee."). The successor holder therefore has the right to judicially foreclose on the note and trust deed, based on its possession of the note. *Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. at 168 (2016) ("The holder of a note may commence a judicial foreclosure of the deed of trust in the same manner as a mortgage.")

Here, the Trust submitted evidence establishing that it was in possession of the Note, and that the Note was indorsed to the Trust. Defendants failed to present any evidence contesting these facts. Consequently, the Trust proved it was the holder of the Note, and therefore the party entitled to enforce the Note. *Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. at 168 (party proving it was in possession of a note, also indorsed to that party, established it was entitled to foreclose).

This point of Washington law is the primary issue on appeal, as Defendants argue that the Trust mistakenly "believe[s] that anyone who happens to be in possession of the note has the equitable right 'noteholder status' and therefore the right to foreclose." (Opening Br. at 12-13.)

-12-

Defendants' observation is oversimplified, but correct: Under clear Washington law, the possessor of a note, to whom the note is also indorsed, is authorized to enforce the note and deed of trust. RCW 62A.3-301. *See also Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. at 168; *John Davis*, 75 Wash. 2d at 222-23; *Brown*, 184 Wash. 2d 509 at 524-25.

Defendants cite RCW 65.08.070 for their position that the "equitable right of 'holder status' must be proven with evidence of a legitimate delivery." (Opening Br. at 13-14.) The statute fails to support their argument. RCW 65.08.070 provides:

> "A conveyance of real property, when acknowledged by the person executing the same (the acknowledgment being certified as required by law), may be recorded in the office of the recording officer of the county where the property is situated. Every such conveyance not so recorded is void as against any subsequent purchaser or mortgagee in good faith and for a valuable consideration from the same vendor, his or her heirs or devisees, of the same real property or any portion thereof whose conveyance is first duly recorded. An instrument is deemed recorded the minute it is filed for record."

RCW 65.08.070. The purpose of this statute is "to make the deed first recorded superior to any outstanding unrecorded conveyance of the same property unless the mortgagee or purchaser had actual knowledge of the transfer not filed of record." *Kim v. Lee*, 145 Wash. 2d 79, 86 (2001). It does not impose any requirement on how a note is transferred. Further, the statute itself is clear that it only protects subsequent purchasers from

an unrecorded lien. The statute has no relevance to Defendants, who were original parties to the Loan transaction and therefore aware of the lien on the Property.

In sum, clear Washington law dictates that the holder of a Note is entitled to foreclose, and there are no authorities to the contrary. The Trust provided ample evidence that it held the Note, and Defendants failed to provide any contrary evidence. Grant of summary judgment was appropriate.

Finally, however, this Court should affirm judgment for two other reasons not addressed by the Superior Court, but supported by the record. *Blue Diamond Grp., Inc.*, 163 Wn. App. at 453 (2011) (noting court may affirm on any grounds supported by the record). First, the Defendants entered into a Loan Modification Agreement in which they explicitly promised to make payments to "Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas ... as Trustee," and acknowledged that this entity was the "lender" of their loan. (CP 40-41, ¶2, 4(c).) They also promised in the Loan Modification Agreement that they had "no right of set-off or counterclaim, or any defense to the obligations of the Note or Security Instrument." (CP 41, ¶ 4(c).) They obtained a substantial benefit from the agreement and should, at this point, be contractually estopped from denying Deutsche Bank as Trustee's status. *Ivy Press v. McKechnie*, 88 Wash. 643, 652

-14-

(1915) (where a party enters into a contract with a corporation, it should be estopped from denying its existence). Second, Defendants' challenge to the Trust's standing appears to rely on a theory that Plaintiff did not receive a valid assignment of the Deed of Trust, possibly due to securitizaton. However, a borrower "lacks standing to raise that issue because she is not a party to or intended third-party beneficiary of [any assignment] agreement." *Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. 166, 367 P.3d at 606.

B. Defendants' Assertion that the Parties Were Close to Reaching a Loan Modification Agreement is Irrelevant

Defendants argue that the Superior Court should not have allowed summary judgment because the parties were close to reaching a loan modification agreement that would have resolved the matter. (Opening Br. at 15.) Defendants also argue that issues of fact precluded grant of summary judgment, and that the Trust's counsel agreed this was the case when counsel stated "She [Mrs. Avalo] made several issues of fact where my clients were not under the belief that she [Mrs. Avalo] would be accepting the loan modification." (*Id.*)

Neither argument could reasonably have precluded summary judgment. First, any prior settlement discussions between the parties is irrelevant as to whether summary judgment should be granted. Moreover, a lender is not required to restructure a loan agreement and it is inconsequential that Defendants are disappointed they did not receive loan modification terms they desired. *Badgett v. Security State Bank*, 116 Wn. 2d 563, 569, 807 P.2d 356 (1991).

Second, the fact that Defendants told the Trust's counsel that there were factual issues causing Defendants to hesitate in accepting a loan modification is entirely different from whether Defendants, on summary judgment, submitted "admissible evidence sufficient to create a triable issue of fact" as to whether summary judgment was appropriate. *Fulton v. State Dpt. Of Social & Health Svs.*, 169 Wn. App. 137, 163 (2012). Here, Defendants failed to raise any issues of fact – let alone submit evidence contesting – whether they had executed the Note and Deed of Trust or whether they were in default. Consequently, grant of summary judgment was appropriate. *See, e.g., Workman v. Bryce*, 50 Wash. 2d 185, 190 (1957) (decree of foreclosure was properly entered where mortgage was established as valid, the past due debt was unpaid, and the borrower had defaulted).

C. The Court's Decision to Grant Summary Judgment in Spite of Defendants' Request for Time to Conduct Discovery was Appropriate

Defendants argue on appeal that grant of summary judgment was unfair and improper because they did not have adequate time to conduct discovery. (Opening Br. at 17.) However, they admit that the Court held two summary judgment hearings in order to accommodate their request to conduct discovery, continuing the initial January 16, 2015 hearing to February 13, 2015. (*Id.*) In spite of the continuance, Defendants did not serve the Trust's counsel with discovery. Further, Defendants failed to submit any evidence in opposition to the summary judgment motion other than the forensic audit, which was unauthenticated, irrelevant, hearsay evidence, which the Superior Court properly noted offered legal conclusions and probably constituted the improper practice of law. (Tr. 6:16-24.) Even Defendants appear clear that the document was not adequate evidence and needed corroboration, admitting in their Opening Brief that "if proven accurate as it was attested to ... [it would show] breaks in the chain of title") (Opening Br. at 18-19.)

Defendants' uncertainty about the forensic audit is understandable. This type of proposed expert material is regularly rejected by courts. *See Fidel v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co.*, No. C10-2094 RSL, 2011 WL 2436134, at *1 (W.D. Wash. Jun. 4, 2011) (disregarding forensic audit because plaintiff cannot rely on legal conclusions from a report); *Abarquez v. OneWest Bank, FSB*, No. C11-0029RSL, 2011 WL 1459458, *1 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 15, 2011) (same); *In re Butler*, 512 B.R. 643, 655 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. 2014) (same). The Washington Attorney General and the Federal Trade Commission warn borrowers not to pay for these kinds of reports. Hanson v. Wells Fargo Bank N.A., No. C10-1948Z, 2011 WL

2144836, *3 at n.6 (W.D. Wash. 2011) (noting credibility of reports was dubious and the Federal Trade Commission had issued a consumer alert "regarding forensic mortgage loan audit scams.").² Here, however, the Court need not consider the hypothetical question of whether a "forensic audit" could ever be admitted as expert evidence, because the evidence is clearly inadmissible due to the fact that it provides legal conclusions (rather than expert evidence on facts), and because the evidence is irrelevant. Nothing in the audit disputes the only relevant fact regarding the Trust's standing to foreclose, which is that the Trust was the holder of the Note. *Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. at 172-78 (rejecting numerous arguments regarding securitization and ownership of the note and finding plaintiff need only prove it was holder of the note.)

For the same reason, Defendants' argument that they were unable to obtain discovery pertinent to the forensic audit (Opening Br. at 19) is immaterial. As the Superior Court correctly noted, a Washington Civil Rule 56(f) Motion to Continue Summary Judgment for the purpose of taking additional discovery requires a showing the party can obtain new evidence creating a genuine issue of material fact. *Christofferson v.*

² See also the website of the Washington State Office of the Attorney General, entitled "Mortgage and Foreclosure Scams," available at <u>http://www.atg.wa.gov/mortgage-and-foreclosure-scams</u>.

Miller, 87 Wn. App. 1096 (1997). Here, Defendants admit on appeal that they intended to obtain additional discovery supporting the forensic audit. Because the forensic audit was irrelevant to any of the elements of foreclosure, the Court appropriately refused to continue the summary judgment proceedings.

D. Defendants' Objection to the Boutin Affidavit Fails to Provide a Basis for Reversal

Defendants challenge the Affidavit of Nicole Boutin, executed on April 21, 2015, as insufficient to support judgment, for various reasons. The Superior Court entered its Order Granting Summary Judgment on February 13, 2015. (CP 170-72.) At that point, the Superior Court determined that (1) the Trust was the holder of the Note; (2) all conditions precedent to foreclosure have occurred; and (3) the Trust was entitled to foreclosure. (*Id.*) The only remaining detail was the submission of a judgment and a showing of proof to the Court regarding the outstanding amount of the lien.

The Trust provided that information in the Affidavit of Nicole Boutin, submitted on September 8, 2015 in support of its Motion for Entry of Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure. (CP 345-350.) Defendants did not object to the Affidavit, and the objection was therefore not preserved for appeal. Wash. R. App. P. 2.5(a). Moreover, a review of the figures provided in the Affidavit shows that Boutin carefully set forth different amounts chargeable to the Loan, many of which can be independently confirmed. For instance, her Affidavit provides the remaining Unpaid Principal Balance and Interest after calculating Defendants payments made under the Loan Modification, and the deferred principal balance of \$70,453.35, which is set forth explicitly in the Loan Modification Agreement. (Compare CP 348-49, ¶ 11 with CP 384-86.) The other amounts appear reasonable, and Defendants offer no reason to disbelieve them. A party opposing judgment must do more than ask a Court to disbelieve admissible evidence submitted by a party, but must offer evidence showing a dispute regarding the facts. Maldonado v. Holdren, 167 Wash. App. 1044 (2012) (party opposing summary judgment may not "merely recite the incantantation, 'Credibility,' and have a trial on the hope that a jury may disbelieve factually uncontested proof.") Defendants failed to do so.

Defendants' objections regarding the business records attached to the Affidavit are also unpreserved, and moreover, without merit. Washington Civil Rule 56(a) allows a claimant to move for summary judgment with or without affidavits, and does not provide any restrictions regarding who signs any supporting affidavits. RCW 5.45.020 allows the submission of business records by a "custodian or other qualified

-20-

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